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The Maclay Building™ is a two story brick building with pressed sheet
metal facade over wood frame front, showing the Eastlake Style and Beaux
Arts influence. There are paired sheet metal columns framing rectangular
windows across the second story facade of the building with egg and dart
detailing on an ornate roof cornice. The corner pilasters are of cast
iron on the ground floor. The building is a significant architectural

and historical element of Kentucky Street; one of two main business streets
that make-up downtown Petaluma. It is adjoined on either side by two
one-story buildings that have retail stores at street level. 1In the rear
of the building is a service alley that runs the length of the block.

The Maclay Building currently houses a furniture store on the street floor
with offices and g hall above on the second story. This current building
plan was first adopted in 1901, when the new owner, Adolph Bloom, engaged
the local Petaluma architect, Brainerd Jones to remodel the 0ld Opera House
into an office building. Bloom purchased the building for $4,420. A local
newspaper describes the progress of the remodeling.

The new building which A. Bloom is making out of the old
theatre property is assuming proportions. The old fromt,
which will be removed and a new one put on, is still in
place, but the interior of the building will soon commence
to look lifelike. The plan for the upper story has been
decided upon. In the front will be six offices and in the
back of the offices will be a big hall. There will be a
kitchen and dining room to go with the hall. A local
physician has already engaged one of the offices. The down
ground floor will be made into one big store, 60' x 100'.
In case it is so desired, the big store can be partitioned
into two stores.

Petaluma Argus - May 20, 1901

The architect, Brainerd Jones, incorporated the use of five original sky-
lights into the new scheme. The skylights were repositioned and new roof
openings cut to accommodate their new location.

Although the detailing on the sheet metal facade reflects the Eastlake
Style, most widely used in the 1890's in this area, evidence points to the
fact that the front was first installed on the building at the time it was
remodeled in 1901. The cast iron pilasters on the ground level were pro-
duced by the McCormick Foundry in San Francisco.

LThe building was originally built as an opera house in 1870 but was
substantially changed in 1901 when owned by Adolph Bloom. 1In 1927, Thomas
Maclay bought the building which today still bears his name. In the
community, the building is referred to as both the Qld Opera House and
the Maclay Building. For clarity sake in this application, we refer to

the building by its common name, the Maclay Building.
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The building was originally built as an Opera House in 1870 at a cost
of $25,000 by a group of investors incorporated as the Washington
Hall Association. It was used as a theatre up until 1900. A%though
there were major interior alterations and facade changes made at the
time of remodeling, the superstructure of the building, including roof
trusses and upper ceiling joists, has remained intact. The building
has continued unchanged since the 1901 remodeling initiated by Adolph
Bloom and the sheet metal facade done at that time is the most
elaborate in the area. o
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The major significance in this building today is the elaborate facade which
is constructed of sheet metal components. Earlier buildings of this
character in Petaluma dating from 1870 - 1886 were constructed of cast iron.
The Maclay Building is a significant representative of an era and an
important example of a method of comstruction with the use of pressed sheet
metal to create an intriecate facade. This structure is the only building in
Petaluma that has used sheet metal so extensively and still retained its
architectural integrity.

The architectural use of sheet metal and cast iron was prevalent in the
latter half of the 19th century on the west coast, especially in commercial
buildings. Sheet metal construction represented the earliest attempt at’
prefabricated building design. In Architecture and Building Construction,
published in 1897, it states that:

...store and office fronts are often covered with

sheet metal, bent and formed into elaborate moldings,

or pressed and stamped into ornamental details, which

are grouped so as to form decorative features. Generally
speaking, sheet metal coverings for buildings are imitations
of brickwork or masonry and when properly arranged and
attached to a good solid backing and carefully painted,

they make for some time, successful deceptionms.

In the case of the Maclay Building, the decorative use of sheet metal on the
facade was extremely successful and durable.

Normally, sheet metal cornices were made at the factory according to drawing:
and specifications with brackets, modillions and dentils usually attached

at the same time, then the parts were shipped to the buildings. The
tinsmith was only required to assemble the various parts and attach them

in place with proper supports, usually wood or iron. The Maclay Building
was assembled in this manner using wood supports.

The history of the Maclay Building dates back to the 1870's when the
Washington Hall Association was organized for the purpose of building a
worthy opera house for the prosperous community of Petaluma. The company
was incorporated February 22, 1870 and the architects, S. H. Williams & Son
of San Francisco retained to prepare plans and specifications for the new
theatre building on Kentucky Street. The original facade was stone in the
Italianate Style containing arched windows and pedimented window hoods.
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By the time the Opera House opened on September 26, 1870 with a Grand
Promenade Concert and Ball, the fifty foot (50') high masonry building
stood completed. The interior consisted of an auditorium, an elevated
stage, front and side galleries, dressing rooms and a basement where
refreshments were sometimes served. In 1871, the basement was used as
a skating rink. The building was lit by 140 burners which according to
the 1883 Sanborne Map of Petaluma were generated by a gasoline machine
in the stable yard adjacent to the theatre.

The Petaluma Opera House was an imposing, well built edifice of which

the town was very proud. The construction of the building was supervised
by Captain W. Neill and W. J. Nap. In July, 1870, the Petaluma Argus
notes that these men were "engaged for the last couple of days in hoisting
the trusses to their place, which are to form the self-supporting roof.
There are seven trusses, 58' long, weighing about 3800 each and were put
in place by means of a large derrick." These trusses are still in place
today.

The new Petaluma theatre was on the circuit for theatrical and concert
groups as well as lecturers from San Francisco. An evening's enter-
tainment often consisted of a sampling of romantic drama, musical
burlesque and comedy pieces. Mark Twain is known to have addressed
audiences at the hall on Kentucky Street. The theatre building provided
a distinctive setting to many theatrical events, lectures, dances and
parties up until the 1900's in Petaluma.

In January, 1900, the Washington Hall Association directors and owners

of the Opera House decided to sell the property and allow the corporation
to die a natural death. In 1901, Adolph Bloom outbid George McNear and
became owner of the old theatre for a sum of $4,420. Mr. Bloom initially
thought he would be able to follow the wishes of the community and
refurbish and reopen the old theatre at a cost of $5,000 or $6,000.

The theatre idea was abandoned,however, and Mr. Bloom hired the local
architect, Brainerd Jones to remodel the structure as an office building.
The hall portion of the newly remodeled building served as a meeting
place for community groups that has continued over the years with offices
on thek§econd‘story and a furniture store at ground level.



